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JUDGE RIVERA: Good morning, good morning.
And welcome to the second public hearing of the
Advisory Committee, established by New York State
Court of Appeals Chief Judge Jonathan Lippman,
charged to study New York®"s proposed adoption of the
Uniform Bar Examination.

Welcome to all of you. Welcome to the
Court of Appeals Hall, if you®ve not been here
before. Thank you for braving the snow last night,
those who traveled last night. Those who were on the
train with me from New York and waited many, many
hours in Penn Station, thank you. And those of you,
of course, who made i1t out this morning, perhaps dug
your car out of, I don"t know, one foot or whatever
it is we have in Albany, thank you. We much
appreciate i1t, and we look forward to hearing from
everyone who i1s scheduled to testify today. And we
will also have two people who were unable to travel
because of the weather and who will be testifying by
phone near the end of today"s hearing.

Last year, Chief Judge Lippman submitted
for public comment a proposal from the New York State
Board of Law Examiners to adopt the Uniform Bar
Examination, commonly referred to as the UBE, to

replace the current New York State Bar Exam.
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The UBE is prepared by the National
Conference of Bar Examiners, and the proposal
included adoption of a New York law examination - - -
the New York Law Exam, NYLE - - - consisting of fifty
New York Law specific multiple-choice questions which
would be prepared by the New York State Board of Law
Examiners. This test iIs Intended to ensure proper
evaluation of New York law not otherwise tested on
the UBE.

In November of last year, Chief Judge
Lippman appointed this Advisory Committee to study
and prepare a report for the court®s consideration in
early 2015 on the proposed adoption and
implementation of the UBE. The committee consists of
myself - - - | serve as the chair, associate judge of
the Court of Appeals - - - and representatives from
law schools, the judiciary, and the State Board of
Lax Examiners and the Bar.

Several committee members are here today.
111 briefly introduce them to you. To my immediate
right i1s Diane Bosse, Chair of the New York State
Board of Examiners. To my immediate left, Seymour
James, Jr., Attorney-in-Chief of the Legal Aid
Society of New York City and past president of the

New York State Bar. To my right at the end is David
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J. Hernandez, founder of David J. Hernandez &
Associates, past president of the Puerto Rican Bar
Association of New York and member of the Second
Department®s Character and Fitness Committee. And to
his left, also to my right, is Michelle Anderson,
Dean of CUNY School of Law. To my left and Seymour®s
left 1s Hannah Arterian, Dean of Syracuse University
College of Law. And at the end of the table on the
left 1s Nitza Milagros Escalera, Associate Dean of
Students at Fordham University School of Law.

Each member has a well-deserved reputation
for excellence, brings a wealth of knowledge
concerning matters involv - - - iInvolving the proper
licensure and preparation of New York State lawyers.
And my - - - the Chief Judge and myself are really so
pleased that they are able to participate on this
committee and do this tremendous service for New York
State and the profession. And 1 thank them again
publicly for their work.

As part of the committee"s mandate, we will
be receiving input on the proposal from interested
individuals, organizations, and entities as part of
our outreach to the legal profession and broader
community. The committee also strives to educate by

providing information about the current New York
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State Bar Exam and the details of the proposed
adoption of the UBE and the New York Law Examination.

And we Invite anyone who has not already
visited the court"s website to review the materials
describing the proposal and the current exam that are
posted on the website.

Now, in furtherance of our mandate, we are
also hosting a series of public hearings across the
State - - - across the state to receive and consider
testimony from members within our profession. Today
iIs our second public hearing here in Albany, and we
are very pleased to be able to host this hearing at
the courthouse.

The hearing will proceed as follows. Each
person testifying has a pre-set time to speak
uninterrupted, which will be followed by brief
questions from members of the committee.

So we begin today with Mary Lynch,
representing the Clinical Legal Education
Association. And we have all the testimony that was
prepared in advance.

Thank you so much for coming today.

MS. LYNCH: Thank you. 1Is this
appropriate? Not barreling into your ears but loud

enough?
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JUDGE RIVERA: No, that - - - that"s fine.

MS. LYNCH: Great. Wonderful.

JUDGE RIVERA: You"re very good.

MS. LYNCH: As Just - - - Judge Rivera
indicated, my name is Mary Lynch. 1°m a professor at
Albany Law School where 1 am the director for the
Center for Excellence in Law Teaching. But most
importantly for today, 1 am the co-president of the
Clinical Legal Education Association, also known as
CLEA.

Our membership extends to 1,200 law
professors, including many active members in each of
the fifteen New York law schools. CLEA has long been
dedicated to improving the preparation of law
students for the legal profession and has paid
particular attention to the relationships among law
licensure, legal education, diversity in the
profession, and access to justice. CLEA has
submitted a formal letter to the committee, and I
understand that you have hard copies in front of you.

I would like to begin by thanking Judge
Rivera and the entire Advisory Committee on the
Uniform Bar Exam for honoring me with granting my
request to provide comment on your Important work,

and | also thank you very much for your service on
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this important matter.

I will speak to three concerns that CLEA
finds with the proposed changes to the New York Bar
Exam. First, the proposed changes place undue
reliance on the skill of standardized test taking
and, 1n particular, multiple-choice test taking as a
measure of professional competence. This undue
reliance on examination by multiple choice creates
disincentives for law schools to admit students who
bring a wider range of smarts, skills, qualities, and
experience than simply good test taking on multiple
choice. This undue emphasis on multiple-choice test
taking will negatively effect, CLEA believes, the
diversity and credibility of our profession.

I want to bring your attention to two
portions of the proposal that create this undue
reliance. First, the standalone fifty-question New-
York-specific multiple-choice exam replaces the
current New York portion, which tests in both essay
and multiple-choice format.

And secondly, in adopting the UBE, the
proposal changes the weight of the multiple-choice
multiple-bar examination. Under the proposal, the
MBE would count for fifty percent of the final score

instead of the present forty percent. CLEA is
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gravely concerned that the proposed changes to the
New York Bar Exam will incentivize law schools to be
even more rigid and narrow In their admissions
decisions, thereby diminishing student diversity in
all its dimensions.

Because bar examination passage IS
scrutinized by rankings, by alums, by the media,
schools are going to place even greater emphasis on
admitting students with high multiple-choice LSAT
scores to the detriment of applicants who present a
range of experiences, qualities, smarts, and skills
that students of all backgrounds bring to classrooms,
student activities, organizations, co-curricular
activities, student research, and most importantly,
to the pursuit of justice.

And our concern i1s not easily dismissed
given the data. The 2011 report of the ABA Council
on Racial and Ethnic Diversity in the Education
Pipeline noted that the law school admissions process
over the last ten years has resulted In sixty percent
of all African-American applicants and forty-five
percent of all Hispanic applicants being totally shut
out from every ABA-approved law school they applied
to, compared to just thirty-one percent of white

applicants.
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Now, this exclusion is particularly
disturbing when we know that standardized testing 1is
an acquired skill that comes along with many other
advantages with privilege and access. | do not want
to be misunderstood. CLEA is not arguing that test
takers of color do not possess the smarts, aptitudes,
or abilities to succeed. Rather, this is an
observation about two documented facts. The racial
disparity in LSAT scores, particularly for black and
Latino men, i1s dramatic. And, two, we know students
who possess attributes other than high LSAT scores
succeed In law schools that offer proper support.

We fear that a regime which i1s going to
magnify the importance of multiple-choice test taking
will incentivize law schools to accept only primarily
high LSAT scores, and thereby decrease the diversity
in the profession. Thus, we urge the committee to
carefully consider the potential disparate impact
that result from the adoption of these proposed
changes. CLEA believes that the studying and
analysis and data crunching should occur before
adopting the UBE in the current proposal. And
moreover, as I"1l discuss in point three, there are
better alternatives.

Okay. 1"m going to turn to CLEA"s second

10
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concern, which involves the proposed - - - or the
anticipated chilling effect on the innovative work
being done i1in New York State®"s law schools and
throughout the nation to better prepare law students
for practice and for the profession. |If the proposed
changes are adopted, CLEA believes law schools will
retreat to traditional curricula and assessment in
perhaps misguided, but predictable, efforts to
protect against lower bar pass rates.

In the past decade, the bench, the bar,
clients have emphasized that law school graduates who
have no experience with how the law operates in real-
world context have difficulty applying what they
learned in law school out in the real world, in the
profession and in practice.

Law schools across the United States are
revamping curricula to integrate skills, courses, and
modulles throughout the three-year arc. Clinical and
other experiential education fuses the doctrinal and
theoretical underpinnings, the knowledge, with the
range of skills that students need to represent
clients, engage in the practice of law, and enhance
our profession. These clinical and experiential
courses also motivate students to learn more, to

study more, to - - - to really want to be excellent.
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In addition, the ABA has recently revived
iIts - - - revised 1ts accreditation standards to
implement outputs that are designed, iIn part, to
better sync legal education with the realities of
legal practice and require law schools to ensure that
students learn a breadth of skills.

Adopting the UBE and New York multiple-
choice section, that as an independent licensure
requirement, will undermine, we believe, the current
reforms of legal education at the very moment when
innovative advances are taking off. Rather than
being encouraged, innovative measures will be
abandoned. Schools will inevitably respond to
change, particularly change that makes bar passage
more challenging, by focusing even more on one
output, bar passage, to the detriment of other
outputs that measure, inter alia, skills, values,
ethics, and experience-based aptitude.

So here®s what we see happening. Law
schools will tailor curricula to bar preparation
courses and steer students to those courses - - - not
for everyone, but for a large portion of their
students. Faculty will steer assessments toward the
kind of multiple-choice questions asked on the bar,

so that students can practice for the bar. Law
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students will hear the message that they should
prioritize bar prep and other doctrinal courses. And
law schools will have a disincentive and be
discouraged by this multiple-choice focus from
creating or expanding experiential courses, which
complement and deepen analytical learning and provide
the broad, well-rounded, but interconnected
development of professional knowledge, skills, and
values.

CLEA"s third point: there are too many
unanswered questions about the UBE to move forward
now, particularly given the strong support for
alternative reforms to the New York Bar Exam. As
seventy-nine law school deans noted, the National
Conference of Bar Examiners, NCBE, has comprehensive
data that would shed light on the cause of the recent
drop In bar passage, but has refused to share that
data in any form with schools, their representatives,
or the public.

They have insisted that recent test takers
are not as strong, although deans have stated that
their data does not support that claim. Similarly,
the NCBE has not been responsive to calls to share
their data in any form with groups concerned about

the disparate impact of the MBE and the UBE - - -
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whoops - - - on test takers of color. New York
should not bind itself more tightly to the NCBE until
it meets reasonable expectations of transparency and
disclosure.

This is just a - - - not just the wrong
time, though, CLEA urges, but this i1s the wrong
reform of the New York Bar Exam. For years, many
groups and knowledgeable individuals, including the
Association of the Bar of the City of New York, the
New York State Bar Association, and leading academics
and judges, have noted that the bar exam does not
measure graduates® ability to practice law. Over the
past fifteen years or so, advances in law school
assessment tools and the development of clinical
education have made other kinds of licensure exams
practicable, such as the iInnovative Daniel Webster
Scholars Program in New Hampshire.

The Wall Street Journal recently noted a
forthcoming study by the Institute for the
Advancement of the American Legal System found that
students who graduated from the Daniel Webster
program outperformed lawyers who had been admitted to
practice in this state within the past two years.

In conclusion, there are too many

unanswered questions for New York to tie itself more
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closely to a national system that is currently the
subject of significant criticism, that has not been
studied for the disparate Impact consequences, and 1s
likely to chill innovation iIn experiential and
clinical offerings at law schools. There are other,
better bar exam reforms on which New York can lead
the country. Thank you.

JUDGE RIVERA: Thank you very much. Let me
start off the questions with Ffirst asking 1f you have
any information on the impact on law school
admissions in UBE jurisdictions, since there are some
jurisdictions that have adopted the UBE?

MS. LYNCH: So - - - I"m sorry, can - - -
impact on law school admissions i1n the jurisdictions

JUDGE RIVERA: Yes.

MS. LYNCH: - - - that have adopted the
UBE?

JUDGE RIVERA: Correct.

MS. LYNCH: My understanding from those who
I have consulted with this and who the CLEA board has
consulted with, and we - - - we tried to reach out to
different people, that we don®"t have an analysis of
that. If that exists, we didn"t find it.

JUDGE RIVERA: Okay. Thank you for that,
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just that First question. So then I wanted to ask
for the organization®s position on the MPT questions
that are part of the UBE. Obviously, they"re more -
- - 1S a greater opportunity through the UBE, at
least that®s the hope, to test the kinds of skills
that - - - that you"re referring to during your
testimony and In your written testimony. And I
wondered 1f you could comment on whether or not you
think the MPT i1s able to do that or has i1ts flaws?
And 1f 1t has flaws, if you could discuss what you
think those flaws are.

MS. LYNCH: The - - - CLEA did not - - -
I"m here In a representative capacity.

JUDGE RIVERA: Yes.

MS. LYNCH: CLEA did not analyze whether or
not there were flaws with the MPT, so that was not
part of the board®s voting. What I can tell you is
that CLEA has never thought that the MPT tests the
wide range of skills that is - - - that are really,
we think, more important to the practice of law.

And so, for example, in past letters that
CLEA has filed with the ABA and with others, we have
pointed to the Shultz & Zedeck study, we have pointed
to other studies which focus on what are the skills

that lawyers need that the competent lawyers exhibit
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and demonstrate. And so we have never seen the MPT
as to be a answer to clinical assessment as an
appropriate measure.

JUDGE RIVERA: Can you subsequently submit
copies of those letters to the committee - - -

MS. LYNCH: Absolutely.

JUDGE RIVERA: - - - that you“re
referencing? That would be great.

MS. LYNCH: And - - - and 1 - - - would - -
- would you like me to highlight the - - - since they
were responsive to, you know, proposed comprehensive
review standards, would you like me to highlight the
portions that respond to the skills that are needed?

JUDGE RIVERA: That would be very, very
helpful. Thank you so much.

MS. LYNCH: 1°d - - - 1°d be delighted to
do that.

JUDGE RIVERA: Yes. Yes, great.

Any other questions? Yes, Hannah, please.

MS. LYNCH: Let me just write a reminder to
myself. You know, I"m in my fifties. All right, so
- - - all right, so - - -

JUDGE RIVERA: Wait a minute.

MS. LYNCH: Yeah, as a supp - - -

supplement.
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JUDGE RIVERA: Just a moment now.

MS. LYNCH: All right. Supplement and
highlight. Okay.

JUDGE RIVERA: Thank you.

MS. LYNCH: You"re welcome.

MS. ATERIAN: Mary, 1 - - - 1 took a bunch
of notes, and 1°ve been thinking. And I just want to
focus, 1 think, on one - - - one piece of this.
Because the - - - it seemed - - - you said It"s
inevitable, essentially, that, you know, all law - -
- that law schools are going to - - - if - - - 1If - -
- if this is adopted, law schools are going to shift
their emphasis to multiple choice, you know, that
kind of measure of outputs. It - - - It - - - you
know, as somebody - - - 1 think, as a dean who"s
trying to figure out what kind of how - - - what we
do, I"m really - - - I"m - - - 1"m not seeing what
you“"re saying is inevitable.

Number one, how - - - how do - - - how
would we do that? 1°m curious. Now, given - - - 1
mean, the ABA i1s not saying that, you know, bar
results are the output, because the bar results have
always been the output. That"s sort of been - - -
it"s always been out - - - that and - - - and job

placement. So you have to have different output to




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

19

measure, outcome measures.

And, you know, I"m just more - - - I™m
wondering how you - - - your - - - your group - - - 1|
understand it"s not individually - - - has come to

the conclusion that this is going to, you know, Kkind

of put the kibosh on innovation and - - - and - - -
and - - - and the like. And - - - and I also think
it"s important - - - 1°d be interested in your - - -
your - - - your association®s view of how the
downturn in applications generally kind of - - - kind
of get move - - - moved into this area, because

there®s just so much going on iIn terms of shrinking
classes and the like. But I don"t know how much the
2010 - - - 2010 data can help. But the - - - the - -
- but the major question is how did - - - how did
your group conclude that inevitably the emphasis is
going to be on - - - In law schools is going to be
switched to multiple choice stuff - - - outcomes?

MS. LYNCH: Well, 1 certainly wouldn®t want
to state that every exam and every assessment in law
school will become multiple choice. What - - - what
I think we"re talking about are incentives and
disincentives. And so, for example, one thing we
note is that those of us who are professors now don"t

remember multiple choice being part of exams that we
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took when we were in law school.

MS. ATERIAN: Oh, my gosh. 1I"m so much
older than you are, and 1 had nightmares about
multiple choice.

MS. LYNCH: Yes. But - - - but there - - -
they weren"t as they are now stressed, not for
purposes of - - - 1 mean, they were some. They were
some of the - - - of the exams. But I think they are
stressed for a different purpose now. There"s one
thing to say multiple choice as a - - - as a way to
hone 1n on or perhaps a really well formed multiple-
choice question was something that professors thought
they could use in their tool of assessment.

I think what we"re saying is we, as an
educational community, have not figured out what"s
wrong with our multiple-choice testing, and yet we"re
continuing to replicate i1t. And that I think there

has been a move, if you look at the websites of many

of the law schools, In terms of - - - of their
posting of the bar pa - - - you know, what"s on the
bar and the bar passage, if you - - - 1f you talk to

folks about advising that student receive, there is
an assumption that students through their three years
of law school better start figuring out how to take

multiple-choice testing. And I think that there has
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been a - - - so that was what the discussion was
about, that we have seen, many of us, this - - - this
emphasis on - - - on a - - - that the test itself,

that you"re learning the test. You"ll see in many
law schools that there are courses - - -

MS. ATERIAN: Um-hum.

MS. LYNCH: - - - now that are just about
preparing for the bar exam. Okay. There - - -
there"s been really a movement on this. 1 don"t have
a data on i1t; that"s anecdotal. Partly, law schools
don®"t want to disclose - - - that they"re not going
to say we"re really worried about our bar passage.
It"s not going to be up on their website. 1 mean,
they"re going to say some of i1t, we"re going to take
these strategies.

But 1T they were to make a decision between
resources going towards preparing for the bar and
whether or not there"s a new clinical experiential
opportunity, I don"t think that®"s going to be made
public. 1 mean, that just wouldn®"t - - - that"s not
a good marketing set. So I think part of what we"re
talking about is what we"ve seen in terms of
different focuses on the kind of assessment that is
needed to be implemented in law schools In order for

students to pass the bar, which is different than the
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kind of formative assessment that we really need to
have in law schools in order prepare them for the
profession, and we"re seeing this iIncredible tension.

MS. ATERIAN: So you think it"s like a
dichotomy? Schools have to make a choice and - - -
and - - -

MS. LYNCH: 1 don"t know.

MS. ATERIAN: Okay.

MS. LYNCH: 1 - - - I don"t - - - | don"t
think that you"re going to see schools do any way; |1
think 1t"s a matter of priority. 1 think there®s
going to be - - - 1 think what we"re saying is we"re
worried that this disincentive - - - there"s going to
be an incentive to - - - to steer resources toward
increasing your bar passage rate, to steer admissions
efforts towards increasing your bar passage rate, and
in a time of - - - of the fiscal crisis, | think that
when you look at where priorities are going to happen
with very tight budgets, the change will - - -

MS. ATERIAN: Okay, yeah.

MS. LYNCH: - - - push the incentives
towards multiple choice.

MS. ATERIAN: Okay, so you"re - - - that"s

kind of a prediction based on, you know, information
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MS. LYNCH: Based on what we"ve been seeing
happening.

MS. ATERIAN: Yeah, okay. Thank you.

JUDGE RIVERA: Okay. Seymour.

MR. JAMES: You expressed concern about the
disparate impact of changing the bar exam,
particularly with respect to multiple-choice
questions and the expan - - - the increase iIn the MBE
from forty percent to fifty percent.

MS. LYNCH: Yes.

MR. JAMES: Do - - - do you have any
information as to the comparative performance of
people of color on the MBE portion of the New York
State Bar Exam and the rest of the bar exam?

MS. LYNCH: 1 do not have that information,
and I have not seen that information on the New York
website. So if that information exists - - - what we
do know is that back when - - - from the Committee on
Legal Education and Admission to the Bar, when there
was a move to increase the passing score of the New
York State Bar, which included the MBE, we did see
over - - - over a several year - - - there was a - -
- a plan for several years - - - we did see a - - - a
drop, a disparate 1mpact based on that, and that move

some years ago was then stopped. And so we do have
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that data with New York, but I am not aware of or do
- - - or failed to find any data that does that kind
of analysis.

MR. JAMES: Okay.

MS. LYNCH: If - - - 1f you have it, we
would love 1t.

JUDGE RIVERA: Thank you. Michelle?

MS. ANDERSON: 1 appreciate what you"ve
testified to, Professor Lynch. And I"m - - - and |
want to follow up this question of disparate impact.
You - - - your data indicates that you®"d like to see
the data crunching happen before the implementation
of the UBE, if at all, but that there"d be a focus on
data crunching. And I*"m - - - 1"m wondering, you
know, we®ve heard that in testimony before us in New
York City; both SALT and LatinoJustice asked - - -
asked for the same thing. And 1 wonder what that
data crunching would look like in your mind?

MS. LYNCH: Well, 1 would say that 1 am not
the best data cruncher. But what we discussed was
that, for example, 1Tt we looked at the results of the
New York Bar Exam coming up or the last bar exam, and
then you change - - - 1 mean, one idea is then if you
change the measure of the MBE from the forty to the

fifty percent and you looked at that data, that would
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actually give you a little information. It wouldn®t
give you all the information, but it certainly would
give us another piece of data to look at.

MS. ANDERSON: And what would you - - -
what - - - this i1s fascinating and important, and 1™m
- - - I"m wondering what kind of data would satisfy
you? What would you be looking at in that data?
What would you be dissatisfied with, what would you
be satisfied with In that or other kinds of data?
What would you be looking for?

MS. LYNCH: I do not believe 1 have
authority to give you an actual number from CLEA.

MS. ANDERSON: Well, no, no, no.

MS. LYNCH: But I - - - 1 do think that - -

MS. ANDERSON: 1 mean, as a layperson, you
know, as a non - - -

MS. LYNCH: Okay.

MS. LYNCH: And I - - - 1 will say this as
somebody who®"s been a longtime CLEA member and who -
- - and - - - and who 1s on the committee that, you
know, put together the letter, et cetera. You know,
we are concerned about the information we®ve seen
coming out of other states. Particularly, there was

some information coming out of California. And we




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

would want to - - - we would want - - - we would want
not - - - 1 guess we would - - - our instinct is that
we"re going to see the same information coming out of
New York. |If, for some reason, there was data that
showed that there wasn®"t this dramatic impact, that
would helpful data for us to consider in - - - in
terms of taking a new position.

MS. ANDERSON: 1 appreciate that.

JUDGE RIVERA: David?

MR. JAMES: Can - - - can | just - - -

JUDGE RIVERA: Did you want to follow up on

MR. JAMES: 1 wanted to follow up on what
Michelle was - - - I guess I - - - I"m not familiar
with the data you"re referring to in California.

MS. LYNCH: Okay. I will - - - 1 will get
that to the - - - we didn"t refer to speededness and
some of the other data, because we thought it was
very jargony. But 1 would be happy to provide that
to the committee.

MR. JAMES: Does that pertain to the MPT?

MS. ATERIAN: We are now specializing in
jargony, by the way.

MS. LYNCH: Okay. Okay.

JUDGE RIVERA: Thank you.
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MR. JAMES: Does that refer to the MPT? Is
that what you"re - - - getting the data from
California?

MS. LYNCH: I don"t have the study in front
of me, but my understanding is that - - - 1 - - - 1|
can"t remember whether 1t was the MPT. 1 believe i1t
was - - - 1t was not the MPT. It was an analysis
done of - - - that included multiple-choice
examinations. But I will - - - I will go back and
look at that and provide that to the Advisory
Committee.

JUDGE RIVERA: Thank you. David?

MR. HERNANDEZ: Thank you, Professor Lynch.
In response to Hannah"s question, do you refer to law
schools now, 1 believe - - - correct me if I"m wrong
- - - giving prep courses or courses that are similar
to prep courses for bar exam passage; Is that
correct?

MS. LYNCH: Correct.

MR. HERNANDEZ: Okay. And that"s going on
even now with the current bar exam?

MS. LYNCH: Correct.

MR. HERNANDEZ: So it has nothing to do,
specifically, with the UBE.

MS. LYNCH: It does not - - - the fact - -
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- correct that prior to the adoption of the UBE this
is already going on.

MR. HERNANDEZ: So I"m trying to understand
what you"re trying to say or what you have said. 1 -
- - and 1 apologize, I™m a non-educator here and a
non-Bar person. So what It - - - can you repeat to
me what your position is regarding - - -

MS. LYNCH: Sure. 1 think that our
position is - - -

MR. HERNANDEZ: Or what the difference
would be?

MS. LYNCH: Um-hum. The two pieces that,
under the proposal, emphasize multiple choice - - -
the first is the change from forty to fifty percent
of the MBE, and the second is that in the New York -
- - the new New York proposal, the fTifty specific
questions that have not been tested yet, the - - -
the current examination includes essays and multiple
choice, whereas the proposed new - - - sort of do-or-
die fifty questions that if you"re going to be a New
York lawyer, 1t"s fifty questions, i1t"s multiple
choice, and you have to get thirty of them.

MR. HERNANDEZ: 1I°m sorry - - -

MS. LYNCH: And so that emphasizes, that

reifies multiple-choice test taking.
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MR. HERNANDEZ: Did you just say that the
essays also will have multiple-choice questions? No.

MS. LYNCH: No. There will no longer be
any New York essays - - -

MR. HERNANDEZ: Right.

MS. LYNCH: - - - and so that, then, if you
take away the essay part - - -

MR. HERNANDEZ: Um-hum.

MS. LYNCH: - - - it then - - - that"s why
we"re calling i1t do-or-die. 1It"s fifty questions - -
- 1°d better stop knocking over the water - - - it"s

fifty questions, it"s thirty, and so that really
means that we need to focus on - - - on how to answer
the multiple-choice questions tested on the bar.

MR. HERNANDEZ: Okay. And - - -

MS. LYNCH: In - - - iIn addition to the
knowledge, of course. 1"m not denying that students
need to have know - - - doctrinal knowledge in order
to do that.

MR. HERNANDEZ: And - - -

MS. LYNCH: We do not oppose the limiting
of the content outline.

MR. HERNANDEZ: And Judge Rivera indicated,
as we all know, that there will be two M - - - MPT

questions?
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JUDGE RIVERA: Yes.

MR. HERNANDEZ: Which has - - - has to do,
to a certain degree, with experiential learning.

MS. LYNCH: Um-hum.

MR. HERNANDEZ: Would you agree with that?

MS. LYNCH: |1 agree that MPT questions - -

MR. HERNANDEZ: Or do you disagree with
that? 1 - - -

MS. LYNCH: Well, 1 - - - 1 guess I"m not
sure, Your Honor, that I can answer yes or no. | - -
-1 - - -

MR. HERNANDEZ: 1I1"m not a Your Honor, but 1
appreciate - - -

MS. LYNCH: I think that I agree that the
MPT provides another form that"s not multiple choice
and that begins to get at a few of the skills in - -
- In a simulated version. However, 1 don"t think
it"s a replacement for the kind of clinical
assessment - - - I - - - 1 don"t think it solves all
our problems, I guess, and CLEA doesn"t think it
solves all our problems.

MR. HERNANDEZ: And I think we all - - - 1|
think we all agree with that.

MS. LYNCH: Yeah.




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

31

MR. HERNANDEZ: Okay.

JUDGE RIVERA: Just to clarify one point.

I don"t know if anyone else has a - - - has a comment
they want to make. But the UBE essays, of course, in
part will be testing what is New York law. So iIt"s
not wholly accurate to say that the essays now will
not be covering New York law. To the extent that New
York law aligns with the coverage, you are still
testing law that i1s adopted and applied iIn the State
of New York through an essay format. Because I
understood that was part of your critique, that the
sort of the testing of New York law will now be
relegated to a multiple-choice format, and 1 just
wanted to clarify that that i1s not what the proposal
is.

MS. LYNCH: Oh, from looking at the
website, the MEE essay, would be a New York law
essay?

JUDGE RIVERA: Well, my point is that to
the extent that what is being tested on - - - through
the essays on the UBE aligns with what i1s existing -

MS. LYNCH: 1 see.

JUDGE RIVERA: - - - New York law - - -

MS. LYNCH: So in - - - In - - -
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JUDGE RIVERA: - - - bar testing what the
law 1s 1f you apply - - -

MS. LYNCH: If we follow majority
jurisdiction law.

JUDGE RIVERA: Well, what - - - whatever®s
being tested. That"s true. Where there are, of
course, unique rules and differences and, of course,
New York practice and professional conduct, that
would - - - the proposal i1s that that, of course,
would be tested through, as you say, this multiple-
choice format, what we say is the New York Law Exam.
And you“"re correct in that.

But 1 just wanted to clarify that - - -

MS. LYNCH: Got it.

JUDGE RIVERA: - - - that the proposal
anticipates and includes testing of New York law
through an essay format to the extent you will find
that on the UBE - - - in the UBE essays. So 1 just
wanted to clarify that point.

MS. LYNCH: Okay. And what we didn"t - - -
yes, thank you.

JUDGE RIVERA: 1 wanted to make sure that
CLEA understand that. You may think It"s
insufficient. 1 can understand that position. But I

just wanted to clarify that.
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MS. LYNCH: And 1 think what we would like
- - - and I"m going to listen to the rest of the
testimony - - - is that 1t"s not clear to us that the
number of places where - - - for example, my area is
criminal law where New York differs greatly - - -

JUDGE RIVERA: Um-hum.

MS. LYNCH: - - - on i1ts Constitutional
rights. It - - - it is not clear to us how much that
actually overlaps.

JUDGE RIVERA: Okay, understood.

MS. LYNCH: So thank you.

JUDGE RIVERA: And then, as I say the - - -
the proposal anticipates where there are these unique
rules or something that"s not sufficiently tested on
the UBE or appropriately, would - - - we would catch
- - - we would be able to test that through the New
York Law Exam. Are there any other questions before
- - - you said - - - now, | had one other question -

MS. LYNCH: Sure.

JUDGE RIVERA: - - - before you which 1is,
whether or not, since you®ve focused on experiential
learning and - - - and I*m very grateful for - - -
for your testimony on that, does CLEA have any

information with respect to New York law schools or
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nationally? 1°m actually more interested in
nationally. We have information on New York - - -
the number of schools that - - - or excuse me, the -
- - the percentage of students who would like to take
a clinic who actually have seats in law schools to
take clinics?

MS. LYNCH: I can obtain that information
from CSALE - - -

JUDGE RIVERA: Okay.

MS. LYNCH: - - - which is a - - - 1t"s not
a CLEA database but CLEA can make a request to CSALE
to get that information. And, in fact, theilr newest
report should be coming out soon. 1°ve got an e-mail
about a request for Albany Law School this morning.
So 1 can certainly try to get - - - and the question
would be the percentage of students who desire a seat
but don"t get one?

JUDGE RIVERA: Yes. 1 - - - I™m trying to
get a sense of, nationally, the opportunity for a
clinical experience. 1 understand there may be other
types of experiential opportunities, but I'm - - -

MS. LYNCH: Right. You"re looking for
clinical?

JUDGE RIVERA: - - - particularly

interested in clinical. That iIs correct.
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MS. LYNCH: And with clinical, do you mean
in-house and field placement or the - - - the
supervised clinical practice?

JUDGE RIVERA: The supervised clinical
practice. Correct. But with respect to this
question, more information - - -

MS. LYNCH: Better.

JUDGE RIVERA: - - - is always welcome.
Thank you.

MS. LYNCH: Thank you very much. Thank
you .

JUDGE RIVERA: I"m sorry.

MS. LYNCH: Oh.

JUDGE RIVERA: Michelle had a follow-up on
that or a question, sorry.

MS. ANDERSON: 1 - - - I highlighted in my
notes on your testimony that you indicate there"s
some data on the Daniel Webster program admittees
outperforming those who take traditional bar exams.
IT you have access to that data and could provide to
the panel, 1°d very much appreciate it.

MS. LYNCH: I could - - - 1 was - - - 1 was
looking on the website as - - - you know, yesterday,
and they haven®t published it yet. It says it"s

about to come out. But I can e-mail Alli Gerkman and
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see 1T this committee could get an advanced copy.

MS. ANDERSON: Perfect.

JUDGE RIVERA: Yes. Yes, please. Diane
has another question.

MS. BOSSE: And so those people would have
been people that went through the Daniel Webster®s
Scholars Program In the past. And am I correct in my
understanding that those people were people who were
at the top of their class?

MS. LYNCH: The Daniel Webster Scholars
Program does have a - - - 1 don"t think 1t"s that
they were top of the class, but I do think it"s

called the Scholars Program, that there are certain

criteria, and | can get that criteria. 1 mean, iIt"s
on the website. | would be happy to provide that
with the - - - so there is - - - there - - - they

were students who - - -

MS. ANDERSON: They were screened.

MS. LYNCH: They were screened; exactly.

MS. ANDERSON: 1t"d be helpful to know how
they"re assessing success In the profession, as well,
from a clinical standpoint. So, you know, any - - -
any information is - - -

MS. LYNCH: Right. The one piece that was

provided in the Wall Street Journal article was about
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interviewing clients.

JUDGE RIVERA: Okay. Thank you so much.

MS. LYNCH: Thank you.

JUDGE RIVERA: Very much appreciate it.

MS. LYNCH: Thank you.

JUDGE RIVERA: Our next - - - the person
who will next be testifying for us is Irene Villacci
from - - - representing the Women®s Bar Association
of the State of New York. And she is, indeed, one of
those people who was with me In Penn Station
yesterday for many, many hours.

MS. VILLACCI: Many hours.

JUDGE RIVERA: She spent more hours than 1,
but she looks rested and ready to go, and we"re happy
to have you here.

MS. VILLACCI: Ready to go. Good morning.
As you know, my name is lIlrene Villacci, and 1 am the
president of Women"s Bar Association of the State of
New York. Many of you know as WBASNY. On behalf of
the over 4,000 members of WBASNY, I want to, of
course, thank you for this opportunity to present to
you comments regarding the proposed transition to the
Uniform Bar Exam.

I am here today to provide you with the

comments from WBASNY members from across the state.
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When the proposal to possibly transition to the UBE
in New York was released last fall, 1 asked the
eighteen chapters that comprise WBASNY to review the
proposal and to provide me with comments.

Based on the feedback 1 received, WBASNY
has many concerns about the implementation of the UBE
in New York. Members® concerns range from specific
questions related to the exam itself to the impact on
current practitioners as well as the students who
would be taking the UBE. We submitted our comments
in the fall, but 1 would now like to discuss just
some of the comments I received, which | hope you
will consider as you review the implications of the
proposal.

First, the UBE proposal does not seem to
sufficiently address New York law. Many members of
WBASNY expressed concerns regarding the exam®s
limited coverage of New York law and whether this
limited coverage would reduce the significance of
passing the New York State Bar Exam, one of the most
rigorous in the United States and internationally.
Overall, this reduced focus would seem to dilute the
importance of learning New York State law.

Although the UBE proposal includes a New

York State law component, members expressed concern
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regarding whether this component would be sufficient
so that the New York State component is not watered
down. By reducing the New York law component, the
UBE appears to make it much easier to pass the New
York Bar Exam. The New York Bar Exam, our members
consider to be one of the toughest exams for a
reason. We are in a large state with large cities
and a complex, unique CPLR. Lawyers who practice
here should know New York practice, not just to be
able to pass a small piece of the - - - the UBE, the
MEE, as well as the state component.

The second piece is the impact that the UBE
would have on the legal profession in New York.
Members of WBASNY raise questions about the potential
impact of this proposal on the legal pro - - -
profession as i1t exists currently in New York. The
UBE could place practitioners at a disadvantage. For
example, the UBE proposal does not have any
provisions for attorneys who have taken the New York
State Bar prior to 2015, or whenever will be the
anticipated implementation date. What about
attorneys, including myself, who have been practicing
twenty-five years or twenty - - - or more? Would
they be allowed to practice in other states without

taking the UBE?
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Additionally, although the exam would
afford New York lawyers more flexibility to move to
other states, i1t"s possible that more lawyers from
out of state would come to New York. Attorneys who
are not necessarily familiar with New York law would
be able to practice here, which could make it harder
for all lawyers to find a job, concerning - - -
especially considering the economic impact that our
profession has faced in the past several years.
Thus, 1t raises the question whether the UBE would
reduce the prestige of having passed the New York
State Bar Exam and being a licensed New York State
attorney.

Members who - - - members also expressed
concern that the UBE could negatively impact New York
law schools, particularly those whose programs focus
on New York practice and training for the New York
Bar Exam.

Finally, there is also the issue of UBE
implementation issues that our members raised. 1°d
like to turn to the comments that we received
regarding the lack of uniformity among the states
that use the UBE.

First, with regard to grading, each state

is allowed to set i1ts own passage rate. The UBE
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passing grade should be the same in all states based
on what our members have commented on. From what
we"ve read, the proposed passage rate of 266 appears
to be below the passage rate that most of the other
states using the UBE have set.

Second, each state sets their own time
frame to apply or to transfer UBE scores for purposes
of applying for admission. The time frames range
from two to five years, and New York is proposing
three years. The grades should be good for five
years or more, not three years, as most states that
allow reciprocity require five years of good standing
Iin a state bar.

Finally, I - - - 1°d like to add a
perspective that 1°ve had being president for almost
a year now. And what we did back in June - - - one
of my goals 1s becom - - - In becoming president of
WBASNY was actually based upon a fantastic symposium
that 1 went to at Pace that I know that some of you
were at and some of my colleagues who are in the room
were at and that the State Bar offered. And it
showed the - - - the - - - the changing face of legal
education in what 1 think Is a very good direction.

We have now mandatory externships,

incubator law programs, and the like that are
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addressing the fact that we have a generation of new
attorneys who graduate and don®"t receive on-the-job
training. And having gone to that symposium at a
time when I was becoming president, it gave me pause
and made me realize that 1 needed to pull back on
WBASNY"s current mentoring program, where 1 realized
we can"t - - - could not just come out with a - - - a
pat program for a mentoring and go to the eighteen
chapters and say, do it this way.

I had traveled around the state this summer
and seen many of our members, our - - - our new
members and our seasoned members, who were very
concerned because we have young attorneys, and we
consider that to be in the one-to-three year area out
of law school, who are saying, 1 don®"t have time to
get involved i1in the legal community. 1 have a hard
enough time fulfilling my pro bono requirement. 1
don®"t have on-the-job training. And many of my
colleagues in the bar remembered that we had the on-
the-job training twenty-five and thirty years ago.

So our - - - our - - - the face of that has changed.

And our concern, with WBASNY we knew - - -
we"re traveling over the state. We"re trying to
reach out to the law schools to come up with a plan

so that we can stay on the pulse of this for legal -
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- - legal education so that we have attorneys who are
trained and they have a mentorship program that"s
going to work for them. And 1 think that that has to
work for all of us statewide.

The impact of the UBE and changing the New

York part may very well - - - as - - - as - - - as
Ms. Lynch has stated - - - may very well impact the
much-needed practical curriculum. 1 do believe that

New York law schools will have to restructure legal
education towards preparation for this new exam when
they“ve just set off iIn a direction of addressing the
needs of our law students and new attorneys.

So my position in this and 1s - - - what is
being reflected from my members, is that 1t"s time to
study legal education as a whole. And potential
changes to the current bar exam would only be a part
of this, but certainly not the first step.

On behalf of WBASNY, I want to thank you
for the opportunity to comment on this very
significant proposal. As you can see, our members
are very concerned about how such a change would be
implemented and to what extent it iIs necessary. |
think It is a ripe time to have these discussions and
a great time in our legal community to see how we"re

going to move forward to - - - together.
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Based on comments | received, members
wonder, other than portability and standardization,
what 1s the incentive for New York to move towards
the UBE? We are hopeful that more details about this
proposal will become available as it is discussed
further. And as always, we welcome the opportunity
to work with you and to discuss this further with the
task committee, Chief Judge Lippman, and the Office
of Court Administration.

So I*Il - - - of course, I'm - - - I™m
happy to answer any questions that you may have.

JUDGE RIVERA: Thank you so much for that
testimony, Ms. Villacci. So I - - - I wanted to
start out by asking, given the tremendous role that
WBASNY plays, of course, across the state and the
service to your membership, given the historic
challenges that women have faced - - -

MS. VILLACCI: Um-hum.

JUDGE RIVERA: - - - going to law school,
passing through the rigors of a legal education,
taking the bar, passing the bar, finding employment,
being treated fairly at the workplace, and the
reports that the New York State Bar has issued, the
ABA has issued, about the - - - the continued

challenges that women face, | was hoping that you
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might have some comments with respect to whether or
not you think that this change would also have an
impact on women"s access to the profession.

We have heard - - - we"ve heard some
testimony this morning, we"ve received written
comments, we"ve heard testimony in New York regarding
disparate impact focusing on racial and ethnic
populations, but 1 wanted to know if you might have
some insight or some comment that you"d want to share

with us regarding the iImpact based on gender, 1If any.

IT you don"t, you don*"t. 1 just wanted to put the -

MS. VILLACCI: I don"t have - - -

JUDGE RIVERA: - - - put the question to
you .

MS. VILLACCI: Right. 1 don"t - - -1
don"t have the data, but - - - but having been an - -
- an active member and - - - and - - - and officer of
- - - of WBASNY for most of WBASNY"s time - - - and
we - - - we"re - - - we"re heading towards our

thirty-fifth anniversary this June.

JUDGE RIVERA: Congratulations.

MS. VILLACCI: Thank you. And - - - and
being a member twenty-six of those thirty-five, 1

would say on a - - - on a observation that women

45




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

46

attorneys in New York are - - - are strong and

survivors and endure much. And I don"t think that

necessarily this - - - there"s enough to see whether
that would imp - - - whether the UBE implementation
would change our access. 1 - - - the - - - the

stories | hear from my members is a woman will always

find a way. But I do hear concerns over and over

about our new attorneys, our - - - our young women
attorneys. We have women and men - - - men members
in WBASNY.

And they - - - we can"t get them out of

their law firms. We can”"t get them to come to CLEs
to become active members and to see the resources of
what being an active member of the bar association
has to offer them to help them with their
requirements, because they are not getting the
practical - - - they - - - they"re not getting the
prac - - - practical training and support.

They"re trying to stay alive and trying to
stay employed in their jobs, and a lot of their
billable hours go to preparing for a case where there
iIs no mentorship. And that has been the biggest
concern that has been brought to my attention from
our young women attorneys, and also from our seasoned

members who are saying we"re not getting them out and
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this is what they“re saying to us. That - - - that"s
my biggest concern as far as access.

And 1 was so proud to see - - - 1 - - - I™m
here with my president-elect, Andrea Composto, in the
back, and we were both saying we"re so proud that our
alma mater law schools are here today, both Albany
and Hofstra. Andrea®s from Albany Law School, and
I*m from Hofstra. And so we"re very - - - 1™m very
proud to be sitting between our deans.

It - - - It"s not a - - - we"re so proud
the schools heading towards the incubator programs,
the launch programs, heading towards externships.

The medical schools have always done that. So we"re
very proud of that. So the concern is that those law
schools that have made their bread and butter on
concentrating on preparation for the law exam, now
that they"ve turned towards externships and practical
and seeing the need of - - - of what their attorneys
need when they get out of law school, how will the
UBE 1mpact that?

And WBASNY i1s not saying at this point that
this is bad or this is good. Honestly, we all say
that this is a good time for - - - for this
conversation to be happening. But we don®"t think

that it"s the - - - that the UBE should go through in
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New York without a lot of these questions being
answered. But also letting 1t be a way to look at
where we"re heading in general, legal education,
having the mandatory pro bono reporting now in place
for our young attorneys. Where are we heading? It"s
the time for dialogue. 1It"s the time to look at this
as a whole. And - - - and possible changes to the
bar exam should be just one component to look at, but
not where i1t"s the first component.

JUDGE RIVERA: Thank you for - - - and
thank you for sharing your concern that it should be
a holistic approach.

So let me see if anyone has any questions
on this side? And David - - - Seymour, David.

MR. HERNANDEZ: Hi.

MS. VILLACCI: Hi, David.

MR. HERNANDEZ: Thank you for your
testimony. Question: |1 understand that roughly
seventy-seven percent, seventy-two percent of
attorneys in the State of New York are small or solo
practitioners. So my question is, do you find that
your membership composed of that same, more or less?

MS. VILLACCI: 1 can tell you being the
president of the organization, I am a solo

practitioner. And there are many solo practitioners,
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small firm attorneys. And by small firm attorneys, |
mean, you know, people who are - - - It°s - - - It"s
them and a partner or maybe a third partner or an
associate, small firms. We have a lot of members who
are small firms and solo practitioners. And that"s a

Very grave concern.

Many - - - many of our solo practitioners,
like myself, chose to, after years in - - - In - - -
in